

ATSA

Registration and Community Notification of Children and Adolescents Adjudicated of a Sexual Crime: Recommendations for Evidence-Based Reform

2020

Literature Review and Policy Recommendations

Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers

4900 SW Griffith Drive, Suite 274 Beaverton, Oregon 97005-4732 Voice: 503-643-1023 Fax: 503-643-5084 Email: <u>atsa@atsa.com</u> Web: <u>www.atsa.com</u> Twitter: @makesocietysafe Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers

Registration and Community Notification of Children and Adolescents Adjudicated of a Sexual Crime: Recommendations for Evidence-Based Reform

2020

@2020 Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers

Printed and produced in the USA.

Please do not cite or quote without permission.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers (ATSA) is an international, multi-disciplinary non-profit association of more than 3,000 professionals dedicated to preventing sexual abuse. ATSA promotes sound research, evidence-based and effective practice, informed public policy, and comprehensive prevention strategies that lead to the effective assessment, treatment, and management of individuals who have sexually abused or are at risk to abuse.

ATSA's members include leading researchers in the study of sexual violence; practitioners who evaluate and treat individuals adjudicated or convicted of sexual crimes and those at risk of offending; law enforcement and corrections officials; victim advocates; prosecutors, public defenders, and members of the judiciary; and other individuals who seek to end sexual abuse.

ATSA thanks the following individuals for their contributions to this report:

Authors

Jon Brandt Michael Caldwell Sharon Denniston Katherine Gotch Amy Griffith Elizabeth Letourneau Tom Leversee Chris Lobanov-Rostovsky Phil Rich Ann Snyder Brandon Sparks Seth Wescott Karen Worley

Review Committee

Jon Brandt Maia Christopher Franca Cortoni Sharon Denniston Tyffani Monford Dent

Deirdre D'Orazio Katherine Gotch Amy Griffith Simon Hackett Alison Hall Andy Harris Ainslie Heasman Jannine Hebert Bradley Johnson Shan Jumper Kieran McCartan Kevin Nunes Amanda Pryor Chris Lobanov-Rostovsky Jeffrey Sandler Steve Sawyer Anita Schlank Ann Snyder **Brandon Sparks** Tom Tobin Carissa Toop Seth Wescott Karen Worley

Public Policy Committee Members

Jon Brandt Sharon Denniston Katherine Gotch Amy Griffith Andy Harris Chris Lobanov-Rostovsky Amanda Pryor Ann Snyder Brandon Sparks Tom Tobin Seth Wescott Karen Worley

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION

-						
Purnose	of this	naner			••••••	1
1 ur pose	or units	paper	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	 •	••••••	т

REGISTRATION AND NOTIFICATION

Historical timeline	. 2
Other restrictions	. 4
International application of registration and community notification	. 4
Facts about children and adolescents adjudicated or convicted of a sexual crime	5
Impacts to legal charges and sentencing outcomes	10
Research on the impacts of registration and community notification	11
Residence restrictions	13
Legal challenges	14
Conclusions and recommendations	15

APPENDIX

Legal challenges and rulings related to SORN laws	18
Additional challenges	22
Summary of legal challenges	22

REFERENCES

INTRODUCTION

PURPOSE OF THIS PAPER

Registration¹ and community notification² laws originated in the United States, with international adoption of these policies expanding to other countries in subsequent years. Federal and local laws in the United States, as well as a few other Western countries, often require children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime to "register" their living location and other personal information with the local law enforcement agency on a regular basis. This requirement varies in its duration, but can continue for the rest of the child's or adolescent's life. Further, in some jurisdictions, identifying information is posted on the internet and is available to the general public – the most common form of "community notification." Failure of the child or adolescent to comply with registration requirements is a crime.

The purpose of this paper is to review the emergence and development of sexual offender registration and community notification (SORN) laws, identify how these laws have been applied to children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime, and consider the extent to which these laws:

- Are based on research and scientific knowledge;
- Reduce the chances that others will be victimized in the future by those who are required to register;
- Prevent offending by those who have not previously been adjudicated or convicted for a sexual crime;
- Provide actionable information to law enforcement for criminal investigation purposes and to enable the public to take preventive action; and
- Meet their intended goals of preventing sexual abuse and increasing community safety.

This paper presents conclusions about the effectiveness of registration laws as applied to children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime, and makes recommendations on evidence-based reforms regarding registration and community notification.

¹ **<u>Registration</u>**: A set of procedures that individuals adjudicated or convicted of sexual crimes must follow to disclose information to law enforcement authorities and to periodically update that information so it remains current. Initially designed as private and for law enforcement only, it has expanded to include dissemination of information to the public.

² <u>Community Notification</u>: Systems in which information about individuals required to register is transmitted to the public.

REGISTRATION AND NOTIFICATION

HISTORICAL TIMELINE

Registration for adults convicted of a sexual offense originated in the United States (U.S.) in the 1930s and initially was a tool available only to law enforcement agencies. California became the first state to implement sex offender registration of adults in 1947, while Washington became the first state to implement public community notification for adults who had committed sexual offenses in 1990. The original purpose for registering adults convicted of a sexual offense was to provide information to law enforcement for future sex crime investigations. However, based on interest by members of the public to know about registrants in their community, community notification was added to registration laws to allow the public to take protective and preventive actions regarding those required to register.

The U.S. government first implemented a federal registration law with the Jacob Wetterling Crimes Against Children and Sexually Violent Offender Registration Act in 1994. Jacob Wetterling's parents, Patty and Jerry Wetterling, advocated for a national sex offender registry to provide law enforcement agencies with information to investigate sexual crimes, which might have been helpful in the investigation of the disappearance of their son. However, Mrs. Wetterling never intended for children or adolescents to be registered and has expressed grave concerns about public community notification. She now strongly advocates for returning these laws to their original purpose as a non-public law enforcement tool for adult offenders (Wetterling, 2017).

A U.S. federal community notification law was first enacted with the Megan's Law amendment to the Wetterling Act in 1996 based on the case of Megan Kanka, who was sexually assaulted and murdered by an adult male registrant. Megan's parents, Maureen and Richard Kanka, believed their daughter would be alive today had they known of the registrant's status, and it is difficult to argue with their rationale. However, while cases such as Megan's are horrific, they are the rare exception rather than the norm (Bureau of Justice Statistics [BJS], 2000). Laws and policies based on unusual cases may also be less effective, as they use a one-size-fits-all approach that does not recognize the heterogeneity of individuals convicted of sexual crimes or the differences in recidivism risk potential.

Subsequent to enactment of the federal sex offender registration and notification (SORN) laws, all 50 states have implemented these systems in varying ways. The U.S. government has repeatedly refined and expanded the scope of SORN through a series of amendments to the Wetterling Act (the Lychner Act in 1996, the Jacob Wetterling Improvements Act in 1998, the Campus Sex Crimes Prevention Act in

2000, and the PROTECT Act in 2003). Most recently, the U.S. government set forth a new SORN system with the passage of Title I of the Adam Walsh Child Protection and Safety Act of 2006, the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA), which replaced the Wetterling Act and its subsequent amendments. SORNA's provisions enhanced registration requirements via tiering based solely on the offense of conviction, expanded the requirement of registration to include children 14 and older for the first time,³ increased availability of sex offender registration information to the public, and required additional jurisdictions, including some Native American tribes and U.S. territories, to implement a registration system.

Initially, SORN laws neither required nor prohibited inclusion for children or adolescents adjudicated of a sexual crime in juvenile or family court, and state laws varied widely. For example, many states required only adults convicted of sexual crimes (including children transferred to adult criminal court) to register, while other states required both adults and children to register (Human Rights Watch, 2013). However, as time passed, SORN laws developed for adults were subsequently applied to children and adolescents adjudicated or convicted of a sexual crime, often in the same manner and without consideration of the unique needs of children and adolescents. Today, federal statutes and the majority of state laws require children and adolescents, some as young as 9 years old (Human Rights Watch, 2013), to be subject to similar or identical SORN requirements as adults.

In June 2019, the Office of Sex Offender Sentencing, Monitoring, Apprehending, Registering, and Tracking (SMART) published the latest implementation overview. That review rated all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and five U.S. territories on each jurisdiction's implementation of SORNA across five broad categories. While only 22 jurisdictions met minimum standards in all five categories, the overall compliance rate for all 56 jurisdictions was 61% (172 out of 280). For more information about registration and community notification of adults, please see *The Registration & Community Notification of Adults Convicted of a Sexual Crime: Recommendations for Evidence-Based Reform.*

³ Note, the U.S. Department of Justice has subsequently modified this requirement through a series of supplemental guidelines.

OTHER RESTRICTIONS

As states and local jurisdictions in the U.S. have continued to expand the scope of their SORN systems, adjunct policies related to residence, education, and employment restrictions have been added to SORN laws. The most common example of these resulting adjunct policies are residence restrictions. These restrictions limit where a person who is registered may legally live, and typically prohibits people who are registered from living within 500 to 2,500 feet of schools, daycare centers, parks, and other places where children congregate. The first states to adopt residence restrictions were Delaware and Florida in 1995. Currently, 35 states and many local municipalities have residence restriction laws (Meloy et al., 2008). These adjunct SORN laws have increased the requirements people who are registered must address as they return to a community, and often create unnecessary barriers to community reintegration.

The United States' registration and notification laws were enacted in response to crimes against children that fall outside the norm of the typical sexual offense against a child, crimes that involved kidnapping, rape, murder, and/or mutilation. The visceral response to such acts has, in part, spurred many of the legislative actions throughout the U.S. and resulted in passage of laws based on the desire to act immediately rather than study the outcomes related to the proposed policy. While initially well-intentioned, SORN laws are based upon the myths that individuals who commit sexual crimes are "repetitive, compulsive, predatory and potentially violent abusers of young children" (Ackerman et al., 2011).

INTERNATIONAL APPLICATION OF REGISTRATION AND COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION

Internationally, registration is more common than community notification and, when community notification does occur, it is not as broad-based or publicly available as currently practiced in the United States. Rather, registration is more often a non-public law enforcement tool with no community notification components and, when community notification does occur, it is provided on a limited and/or case-by-case basis. For example, the United Kingdom (U.K.) introduced sex offender registration as part of its 2003 Sex Offender Act. Children over the age of 10 are typically required to register for half the period of adults convicted of a sexual crime in the U.K., but indeterminate registration is automatic for any child who is incarcerated for 30 months or more as a result of a sexual offense.

In many jurisdictions, registration is not applied retroactively as it is a part of the sentence for the crime while, in the U.S., it is civil rather than criminal and able to be applied retroactively. International SORN laws are also applied almost

exclusively to adults convicted of sexual crimes (e.g., Canada, France, India, and Netherlands) and, in some countries, these laws are applied only to adults convicted of sexual crimes involving children (e.g., Australia). As such, some international registries are identified as "child protection" registries rather than "sex offender" registries.

Most of the international registries also provide far less detailed information than the U.S. SORNA requirements. Furthermore, many countries do not have a sex offender or child protection registry (e.g., Denmark., Italy, Pakistan , Sweden, and Switzerland) and those that have a registry do not use registration in the same way as is practiced in the U.S., with some countries having a national registry (e.g., Australia, Canada, France, India, Jamaica, Kenya, Netherlands, New Zealand, Pitcairn Island, Republic of Ireland, South Africa, and the United Kingdom) while others have regional but not national registries (e.g., Australia). More importantly, besides the U.S. and the U.K., no other countries register children or adolescents. Additionally, no country other than the U.S. includes children and adolescents on publicly accessible registries.

FACTS ABOUT CHILDREN AND ADOLESCENTS ADJUDICATED OR CONVICTED OF A SEXUAL CRIME

There are many misconceptions about adults convicted of sexual crimes, which include the myths that all people who commit sexual crimes are at high risk to reoffend, are resistant to treatment efforts, and are relatively homogenous. Contrary to popular belief, adults convicted of sexual crimes recidivate at relatively low rates; indeed, just 18% of convicted adults were shown to reoffend with another sex crime over a cumulative period of 20 years, with significant reductions in recidivism risk potential the longer an individual remained sexual offense free in the community (Hanson et al., 2018). Additionally, they are typically responsive to treatment, and are a heterogenous group in terms of variable levels of dangerousness to the community (Gannon et al., 2019; Hanson et al., 2009; Schmucker & Losel, 2015). These misconceptions about the sexual offending population are often regularly applied to children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime as well. For example, the concept of "stranger danger," the belief that children and adolescents offend primarily or predominantly against strangers, has been applied to children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime (Fuselier et al., 2002; Quinn, et al., 2004; Rogers & Ferguson, 2011; Sahlstrom & Jeglic, 2008). Not only is this untrue with respect to adults convicted of sexual crimes, it is also untrue for children and adolescents. For example, most sexual abuse perpetrated against children (approximately 93%) in the U.S. was perpetrated by someone known to the victim (BJS, 2000) and in 88% of all sexual offenses against minors reported to police in Canada, the perpetrator was known to the victim (Cotter &

Beaupre, 2014). With respect to children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual offense, just 2.5% committed an act against a stranger victim in the U.S. as victims were most commonly composed of family members (25.0%) and acquaintances (63.2%) (Finkelhor, et al., 2009).

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines adolescence as 10 to 19 years of age, and further denotes "children" as 0-17 years of age as set forth in the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (World Health Organization, 2020). Despite this classification, U.S. juvenile and criminal justice law often cap "juveniles" at age 17, and often refer to "children" as those 11 and younger. It is also important to differentiate between adolescents and children who have engaged in harmful sexual behavior. Despite some jurisdictions adjudicating children as young as 8 for a sexual crime and requiring these children to register as a "sexual offender," just as adolescents are not "mini adults," children under the age of 12 are not "mini adolescents." Children under the age of 12 are best described as engaging in problematic sexual behavior, rather than "sexually abusive behavior," due to their young age, developmental level, and the continual changes that occur throughout childhood. Children may develop problematic sexual behaviors for a variety of reasons, which include sexual reactivity (i.e., acting out sexually due to a known history of sexual abuse), abusive and/or neglectful environments, exposure to sexualized adults or media, and family violence. Many children and adolescents are also not educated about issues such as consent, physical/emotional/sexual boundaries, and healthy outlets for emerging sexual interests, all factors related to harmful or illegal behavior. For additional information specific to children who engage in problematic sexual behaviors, please see ATSA's Report of the Task Force on Children with Sexual Behavior Problems.

Just as young children differ from adolescents, adolescents who engage in sexually abusive behaviour differ significantly from adults convicted of sexually abusive behavior due to a number of developmental, and particularly neurodevelopmental, factors. Functional Magnetic Resonance Imaging (fMRI) neurological studies have identified several key processes in the reorganization of the adolescent brain that are associated with changes in behavior that occur during adolescence (Gogtay & Thompson, 2010; Lenroot & Giedd, 2006). This and other research has documented that adolescents' diminished ability to manage their emotions, control impulses, solve problems, and react appropriately to the influence of others is in large part a reflection of adolescent brain development of two processes: (a) a socioemotional system that controls impulses, emotional arousal, and the influence of interpersonal relationships; and (b) a cognitive control system that involves deliberative thinking, foresight, impulse control, problem solving and mature judgment (Conklin et al., 2007; Crone & van der Molen. 2004; Hooper et al., 2004; Luna et al., 2001; Steinberg, 2007, 2010). Research has demonstrated that, with the onset of puberty, the areas of the adolescent brain that respond to rewards and generate emotions and impulses become more sensitive to the relevant neurotransmitters (Sisk & Foster, 2004; Reynolds et.al., 2017; Rothman et al., 2012). This results in an increase in the intensity of emotions and impulses and the reward value of satisfying those impulses. At the same time, the centers of the brain associated with modulating emotions and control of impulses mature more slowly, resulting in a gap between the neurologically based activation of impulses and the neurologically based ability to maturely control and moderate those impulses (Casey et al., 2008; Steinberg, 2010; Steinberg et al., 2008). The limited ability of an adolescent to modulate emotions, self-monitor behavior, and control reasoning is mirrored by incomplete brain development in the pre-frontal areas combined with greater intensity in emotions and impulses, including those related to sexual behavior (Bufkin & Luttrell, 2005; Casey et al., 2008).

Further, studies have consistently shown that adolescents engage in greater risktaking in the presence of peers (Albert et al., 2013; Gardner & Steinberg, 2005; Grosbras et. al., 2007; Monahan et al., 2009; Steinberg & Monahan, 2007). This is not solely the result of direct peer pressure, but has been consistently shown to occur even when the youth is alone but believes a peer is present (Smith et al., 2018; Widman et al., 2016). Peer influence produces attitudes more supportive of precocious and impetuous sexual behavior, and more risky and impulsive sexual behavior through two mechanisms. First, peer norms that encourage precocious or aggressive sexual activity directly foster those behaviors and attitudes in young people (Brechwald & Prinstein, 2011; Widman et al., 2016). Second, the perception of the presence of a peer intensifies the reward value of sexual activity by increasing activation of the reward centers of the adolescent brain (Smith et al., 2018; van Hoorn et al., 2018). Thus, adolescents experience stronger sexual impulses and a weaker ability to modulate and rationally analyze those impulses than do adults. Additionally, the impression that other youth are engaging in sexual activity, or the perception of the presence of a peer, increases the reward value of sexual activity and produces more impetuous risk-taking. All of these effects appear to be related to neurodevelopmental processes that occur in the adolescent brain.

The significant developmental changes that occur during adolescence are linked to the low rate of sexual recidivism for adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime. While there is a tendency for the public to assume that adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes are unresponsive to treatment and at increased risk for recidivism (Sparks, 2018), research indicates that, once detected, the vast majority of children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime do not continue to engage in these behaviors. Sexual recidivism estimates for adolescents have been reported in scores of studies conducted over decades of research. A recent large scale meta-analytic study reviewed 106 data sets involving 33,783 adolescents who had been adjudicated for a sexual offense. The weighted mean detected sexual recidivism rate was 4.92% for all studies, and 2.75% for studies conducted since 2000 (Caldwell, 2016). This study additionally documented a 73% decline in adolescent sexual recidivism over the past 30 years. However, similar to adults convicted of sexual crimes, while *sexual* offense recidivism rates for adolescents are low, recidivism rates for *non-sexual* recidivism are higher, ranging from 22% to 49% (Caldwell, 2016; Reitzel & Carbonell, 2006; Worling et al., 2010). Even across a 20-year prospective follow-up study with a clinical sample, sexual recidivism rates remained low, with the lowest recidivism rates identified for youth who participated in specialized treatment (9% in treated compared to 21% untreated; Worling at al., 2010).

There are also notable differences and limitations with regards to the use of empirically based risk assessment instruments for adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime when compared to adult males convicted of sexual crimes. This is due to the low base rate for sexual recidivism in conjunction with the numerous developmental and environmental factors present for youth. While there are evidence-informed, structured risk assessment tools that have been developed to assess the risk and needs of adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime, it should be recognized that there are limitations to the current risk assessment tools that are available. Research provides preliminary support that existing instruments predict recidivism with better-than-chance accuracy (Viljoen et al., 2012; Worling et al., 2012). However, research on the accuracy and validity of these instruments remains inconsistent, suggesting that existing instruments do not sufficiently meet the requirements on which to base public policy or inform important court decisions. Existing research has not identified any risk assessment instruments that reliably predict sexual recidivism in adolescents convicted of a sexual crime (Caldwell, 2016). Additionally, due to the difficulty of accurately estimating risk for sexual recidivism in adolescents, there has been a recent shift away from an exclusive focus on risk assessment, and toward the presence and/or absence of protective factors associated with desistance as a more effective method to meaningfully understand risk factors and treatment needs for adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes (Worling, 2017).

Adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes are also a heterogeneous group as they vary widely in their histories, skills, and psychosocial functioning despite commonalities not only with one another, but also with adolescents who engage in non-sexual criminal behavior. However, as a collective they nevertheless represent a distinct group in comparison to adolescents adjudicated for non-sexual types of offenses. A meta-analysis of 59 studies found that, relative to non-sexually delinquent adolescents, sexually delinquent adolescents had higher rates of sexual abuse victimization, exposure to sexual violence, exposure to non-sexual abuse or neglect victimization, social isolation, early exposure to sex or pornography, atypical sexual interests, anxiety, and low self-esteem (Seto & Lalumiere, 2010). The fact that social isolation, anxiety, and low self-esteem have been found to be significant variables should inform our expectations of the impact of contemporary policy interventions (Daversa & Knight, 2007; Miner et al., 2010). For example, to the extent that broadly applied legal policies inhibit or impair normal social and academic endeavors and development, these policies might exacerbate risk factors for non-sexual or sexual recidivism.

In addition to the issues listed above, adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes also have a higher prevalence of autism spectrum disorders, as well as lower IQ and other neurological deficits when compared to adolescents who have been adjudicated for non-sexual crimes (Mulder et al., 2012). Elevated levels of depression, anger, anxiety, social isolation, disruptive behaviors, rape myth endorsement, psychopathic traits, and sexual arousal are also commonly present in adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes, as are decreased emotional regulation skills, social skills, number of romantic relationships, body satisfaction, and openness concerning sexuality (Burton et al., 2011; Cale et al., 2015; Huang, 2016; Jones et al., 2017; Mulder et al., 2012; O'Brien et al., 2016; Seto & Lalumiere, 2010; Tidefors et al., 2011). There is also some indication that their criminal histories are not necessarily distinct from their non-sexual offending counterparts (McCuish et al., 2016).

Additionally, while there has been some concern regarding the continuity of sexual offending among adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes, research has indicated that continuation of sexual offending into adulthood by these youths is unlikely to occur (Lussier et al, 2012; Taylor, 2003). In assessing the histories of sexual offending for adolescents, Lussier et al. (2012) noted that their offending trajectories followed one of two patterns, adolescent-limited or high-rate slow desisters⁴. The adolescent-limited category, which encompassed 89.6% of the juveniles, was characterized by a peak in offenses around the age of 14 followed by a sharp decrease, with considerably low (2%) recidivism rates in adulthood. The high-rate slow desisters category, which encompassed 10.4% of the juveniles, was characterized by earlier onset of sexually offending which peaked around the age of 12 and was followed by a much slower decrease, with considerably higher (60%) recidivism rates in adulthood. Factors that appeared to differentiate the high-rate slow desisters from the adolescent-limited group were evidence of deviant sexual interests; sexual preoccupation/compulsivity; poor perspective-taking; adult/child pornography use; and traits associated with psychopathy (i.e. superficial charm and grandiosity; Lussier et al., 2012). With respect to criminal trajectories more generally, both Cale et al. (2016) and McCuish et al. (2016) found that there were four distinct categories of offending behaviors. In particular, McCuish et al. (2016) found that the prevalence of children and adolescents adjudicated of sexual crimes in each category did not differ from the prevalence of children and adolescents adjudicated for non-sexual crimes, suggesting that both groups may have similar

⁴ Desistance: Process of discontinuing and demonstrating long-term abstinence from criminal behavior.

offending patterns (McCuish et al., 2016). These results also align with findings from the Pathways to Desistance study (Steinberg et al., 2015), which noted that almost all adolescents acquitted of crimes (including sexual) desisted from crime as they matured.

Furthermore, despite efforts to distinguish the small percentage of adolescents who are at an increased risk for sexual recidivism from the majority of adolescents who desist from crime, the existing research has not identified any stable, offense-based risk factors that reliably predict sexual recidivism in adolescents adjudicated of a sexual crime (Caldwell, 2016). These difficulties in differentiation are additionally reflected by federal and state standards which typically fail to distinguish between adolescents who will reoffend and those who will not (Batastini et al, 2011; Caldwell et al, 2008; Caldwell & Dickinson, 2009).

IMPACTS TO LEGAL CHARGES AND SENTENCING OUTCOMES

The implementation of punitive policies, such as registration and community notification, applied to children and adolescents who have been adjudicated for sexual offenses has also been associated with a 41% decrease in sexual offense charges being forwarded by prosecutors and an increase in plea bargains for non-sexual offenses (Letourneau et al., 2013; Letourneau et al., 2009). As a result of non-sexual charges being applied, there is a risk that adolescents may not qualify for specialized treatment programs in their jurisdiction that are available only to those adjudicated for a sexual offense. These effects have also been shown to occur for adolescents charged with a sexual crime that result in a non-sexual adjudication, with similar negative outcomes regarding ineligibility for treatment programs and similar services (Letourneau et al., 2009; Letourneau et al., 2013; Letourneau et al., 2010a; Calley, 2008).

At the other end of the spectrum, there is also the possibility that adolescents charged for sexual crimes may be tried and convicted as an adult. Waiver laws accommodating such requests or requiring a waiver of some children to adult court are present in 45 states in the U.S. (Griffin et al., 2011). However, trying children as adults does not appear to be an effective deterrent to further offending (Hansen & Waddell, 2014; Letourneau et al., 2010a). It additionally disregards the research on developmental factors and the low recidivism risk potential for children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime.

RESEARCH ON THE IMPACTS OF REGISTRATION AND COMMUNITY NOTIFICATION

As noted previously, the primary goals of SORN laws are to prevent sexual abuse, protect society and monitor individuals within the community who were adjudicated or convicted of sexual crimes. The majority of studies conducted to date have demonstrated that registration and notification laws have done little to reduce sexual recidivism or prevent sexual abuse whether applied to youths or to adults who have been convicted of a sexual crime (Akerman et al., 2011b; Bouffard & Askew, 2019; Letourneau et al., 2010b; Letourneau & Armstrong, 2008; Levenson & Zgoba, 2015; Levenson et al., 2016; Sandler et al., 2008; Sandler et al., 2017; Vasquez et al., 2008; Veysey et al., 2008; Zgoba et al., 2010). As is true of adults convicted of a sexual offense, children and adolescents adjudicated or convicted of harmful sexual behavior are a heterogenous group who cross all socioeconomic, ethnic, gender, educational, and cultural lines. While a small percentage of adult registrants may present significant risk to communities, once caught, the majority of individuals – child, adolescent, or adult – sanctioned for a sexual crime desist from sexually abusive behavior, thus dispelling the myth that such individuals are compulsive, repeat offenders.

There are also numerous unintended consequences of registration and notification as practiced within the U.S. that create barriers for successful community reintegration. For adult registrants and their families, this includes difficulties obtaining employment and housing, as well as experiencing threats, harassment and/or property damage (Farkas & Miller, 2007; Levenson & Cotter, 2005; Levenson et al., 2007; Mercado et al., 2008; Tewksbury, 2005; Zevitz & Farkas, 2000; Levenson & Tewksbury, 2009; Tewksbury & Levenson, 2009). These collateral consequences are regularly experienced by not only the registrant, but the registrant's family (e.g., spouse, children).

For adolescents, Comartin et al. (2010) found social, emotional, and psychological consequences of registration. Children and adolescents required to register experienced more stress, shame, stigma, isolation, loss of friendships, and hopelessness (Mercado et al., 2008), all factors which are associated with increased risk for recidivism in adults convicted of sexual crimes (Ackerman & Sacks, 2012; Hanson & Morton-Bourgon, 2005; Levenson, 2007; Levenson & D'Amora, 2007; Ostrowsky & Messner, 2005; Worling & Langstrom, 2006). Sex offender registration was found to be positively correlated to increased severity of depression and suicidal ideation in the adult life of juvenile registrants, regardless of whether registration status was private or public (Denniston, 2016). A recent study (Letourneau et al., 2018) evaluating the consequences of registration on adolescents also revealed that, compared to unregistered adolescents who were in treatment for problematic sexual behavior, registered adolescents were four times as likely to report having attempted suicide in the past 30 days; five times as likely to report

having been approached by an adult for sex in the past year; and twice as likely to report having been sexually victimized (or the victim of a sexual assault) in the past year. Essentially, the registration and notification of adolescents actually increased the risk for these youth to be victimized and sexually abused by others rather than preventing sexual abuse.

Such findings have also been replicated internationally. In a UK study, Hackett et al. (2015) found that stigmatization, social isolation, violence and physical attacks were commonly reported features of the community response to young people who had sexually offended and their families. The overwhelming level of negative community reactions experienced by youth was described by the authors as "akin to a shotgun...with the impact spreading in unpredictable ways across systems" (Hacket et al., 2015; pg. 251). As such, the authors urged extreme caution against the inclusion of children and adolescents in public policies that replicate the U.S. style of community notification measures.

Negative impacts to the mental health of children and adolescents required to register have also overwhelmingly been identified by treatment providers (Harris et al., 2015). Adverse consequences related to harassment and unfair treatment by others, problems in school, lifestyle instability, and risk of reoffending were noted (Harris et al., 2015). Further, reducing access to prosocial activities for these youth has the unintended consequences of weakening the protective factors that prevent reoffending (Tewksbury & Zgoba, 2010).

In addition to the collateral consequences to family members of adult and adolescent registrants mentioned above, there are added concerns for parents and caregivers regarding the safety of their child or adolescent required to register. Parents often experience fear and paranoia over concerns for their child's public safety, their vulnerability to future false allegations because of their registrant status, unintended mistakes that could have legal consequences to their child as they attempt to abide by complex registration requirements, information about their child being publicly disseminated, and about how ingrained the label might become in their child (Comartin et al., 2010). This often leads to a sense of powerlessness and hopelessness by parents due to their inability to protect their children from these negative consequences, as well as, for some, a prevailing feeling that no matter how many good things their child did, they were not allowed to be proud of them because their offense overrode everything (Comartin et al., 2010). Family members also often suffered the loss of friendships, and even family relationships, when others were embarrassed to associate with them, ostracized them, or if conflicts occurred from misunderstandings about the "sex offender" label or the offense behavior (Comartin et al., 2010). Additionally, public registration and notification essentially results in the "registration" of the parents, family, neighborhood and school as those addresses are often listed on the public registry as well.

As young adults, children and adolescents required to register into adulthood were also found to have significantly more difficulty than older registrants when securing housing, while residence restrictions also made it more likely they were unable to live with supportive family members (Levenson & Hern, 2007). This poses obstacles for children and adolescents required to register as they mature into adulthood and seek to obtain education and secure employment (Comartin et al., 2010; Prescott, 2010). Lack of housing, food, and other basic needs are also associated with increased risk for recidivism (Levenson & Hern, 2007) and, when individuals required to register are unable to find employment, the financial hardship was felt by the whole family as they tried to support the registrant's basic needs in their adult life (Comartin et al., 2010; Levenson & Tewksbury, 2009).

From a law enforcement perspective, SORN laws were viewed as necessary for the monitoring and tracking of registrants in the U.S. and beneficial to law enforcement for criminal investigation purposes. However, law enforcement personnel appeared to be less confident in the public use of this information due to concerns about the public misunderstanding or misinterpreting the currently available registry information (Harris et al., 2016). International research mirrors this perspective on public access to registration information, indicating law enforcement valued the information provided by the adult registry in their respective countries, but they were against the public dissemination of that information due to the unintended consequences, such as those outlined above (see McCartan, 2018; O'Sullivan et al., 2016). Similarly, law enforcement within the U.S. has expressed concerns regarding residence restrictions and similar adjunct laws due to the negative impact on the ability for law enforcement to effectively track, monitor, and provide community supervision of individuals adjudicated or convicted of sexual crimes (Harris et al., 2016). Residence restrictions, as well as some SORN laws, have additionally been subjected to numerous legal and constitutional challenges in the U.S. due to concerns regarding violation of due process, retroactive application, and similar issues (SMART, 2018). See Appendix A for more information on legal challenges within the U.S.

RESIDENCE RESTRICTIONS

As noted above, most states and local jurisdictions in the U.S. have continued to expand the scope of their SORN systems through adjunct policies related to residence, education and employment restrictions. The most common examples are residence restrictions, which have exacerbated many of the unintended negative consequences of registration and community notification. Residence restrictions have been widely used in various forms throughout the U.S. and typically prohibit individuals required to register from residing within 500 to 2,500 feet of schools, parks, playgrounds, day-care centers, bus stops, and other places where children

congregate. This affects not only adults required to register, but also the families of children and adolescents required to register if the child lives at home.

The basis for residence restrictions is the mistaken assumption that, if a person required to register is prohibited from living near children, then that person's access to potential victims is reduced and sexual abuse will be prevented. However, these restrictions are often "one size fits all," based on the myth of "stranger danger," and the assumption that all individuals required to register, adult and juvenile, have sexually abused children and/or present imminent risk to children. To date, the research has provided no evidence to support that the residential proximity to places where children congregate, such as schools or parks, leads to increased recidivism risk. Several studies have shown that the physical distance between the residence of an adult convicted of a sexual crime and schools or day cares was not associated in any way with sexual recidivism (Duwe et al., 2008; Nobles et al., 2012; Zandbergen et al., 2010). Rather, social proximity to children is much more relevant than geographic proximity. While no research has yet been conducted on the outcomes of residence restrictions with children and adolescents required to register, it is important to note that the majority of sexual abuse involving children is perpetrated by someone known to the victim (Finkelhor et al., 2009; Snyder, 2000). Hence, it is not surprising that residence restrictions have done little to prevent sexual abuse.

The unintended consequences of residence restrictions experienced by adults required to register are also present and, in many ways, intensified for children and adolescents required to register due to their reliance on caregivers, educational needs, and the importance of positive social, recreational, cultural and similar activities with peers. Education and prosocial socialization are integral for the healthy development of all children, and removing access to these opportunities for children and adolescents required to register actually inhibits the protective aspects provided by these experiences and opportunities.

LEGAL CHALLENGES

SORN laws in the United States have also come under numerous legal challenges, particularly since the enactment of the Adam Walsh Act in 2006. Similar legal challenges do not exist in other countries due to the differences in application, procedure and use of registration internationally. Challenges to SORN statutes have occurred at both the federal and state levels in the U.S., and are typically focused on violations of the following constitutional and legal tenets – freedom of speech, retroactive application of law, cruel and unusual punishment, and equal protection and due process. In all of these areas, the law is evolving. Please see

Appendix A for a more comprehensive overview of the legal challenges to these laws within the United States.

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

While SORN laws for adults convicted of sexual offenses exist in several countries, only in the U.S. are these laws applied to children and adolescents. The available evidence does not support the effectiveness of SORN laws as applied to children and adolescents while also demonstrating that these laws may actually be counterproductive to the prevention of sexual abuse. Specifically, SORN laws as implemented and applied to children and adolescents within the U.S.:

- Fail to deter sexual reoffending by children and adolescents required to register who, as a group, already have low rates of sexual recidivism;
- Fail to prevent first-time sexual offending by children and adolescents;
- Fail as a risk assessment method to predict sexual recidivism by children and adolescents required to register; and
- Are linked with long-term detrimental outcomes for children and adolescents, including (but not limited to) increased suicide attempts, increased sexual victimization, and increased likelihood of being approached by adults for sex.

Additionally, an often-overlooked unintended consequence of SORN laws is the false sense of security provided to the public as these laws focus only on those adjudicated or convicted of a sexual crime. Research on adults convicted of sexual crimes revealed that 95% of prosecuted sexual crimes were committed by first-time offenders (Sandler et al., 2008), raising questions regarding the ability of SORN laws to meaningfully reduce sexual offending. The enforcement of these laws also diverts time, effort, funding, and resources away from the primary prevention of sexual abuse and evidence-based methods of preventing sexual reoffense by children and adolescents, such as specialized treatment.

Some states, such as Oregon⁵, have recognized the ineffectiveness and harm caused by registration and community notification of children and adolescents adjudicated for sexual crimes and have taken steps towards meaningful reform. While ATSA applauds these state-level efforts, they are not enough and more needs to be done. It is time for legislators to discontinue harmful policies such as the registration and notification of children and adolescents adjudicated for a sexual crime, and instead incorporate what the research has clearly shown are the evidence-based

⁵ <u>https://www.oregonlaws.org/ors/163A.025</u>

interventions effective at reducing sexual recidivism and for the primary prevention of sexual abuse.

In looking at what *does* work to prevent sexual abuse and appropriately address sexually abusive behavior committed by children and adolescents, access to and participation in evidence-based, holistic approaches that are individualized according to youth and family risk factors, intervention needs, and learning style are key. This includes interventions that address risk factors, maximize protective factors, and focus on family stability and increasing ties to the community to promote a healthy, prosocial lifestyle.

Based upon current knowledge and research, ATSA offers the following recommendations:

- End policies that subject children or adolescents to sex offender registration and notification requirements and related residence, education, and employment restrictions;
- Implement primary prevention interventions, for example <u>Shifting</u> <u>Boundaries</u>, <u>Safe Dates</u> and <u>Coaching Boys into Men</u>;
- Offer specialized treatment programs grounded within developmentally appropriate, research informed practices that incorporate trauma-informed practices and adhere to the principles of risk, need, and responsivity⁶;
- Offer sexual education programs that address consent, healthy sexuality, and boundaries offered in an age-appropriate manner throughout childhood development;
- Offer treatment and other interventions that are sensitive to and address the adverse childhood conditions often experienced by at-risk youth (Adverse Childhood Experiences);
- A focus on protective factors that increase emotional, behavioral, and educational stability; and
- Engage family members and community support persons in an effort to maximize success in programs and promote stability and prosocial behaviors.

⁶ <u>Risk Principle</u>: intensity of services should be determined by the risk level of the individual <u>Need Principle</u>: interventions should focus on criminogenic factors associated with recidivism risk <u>Responsivity Principle</u>: interventions should be provided in a manner that incorporates the person's individual characteristics such as learning style, level of motivation, and other individual factors that may impact delivery of services

Evidence-based assessment, treatment, management, and policy strategies enhance community safety, reduce sexual recidivism, and prevent sexual abuse. However, too often the data surrounding public policy interventions are discounted or ignored, especially when the conclusions of the research do not support the views of policymakers and their constituents. Although SORN laws were created to protect the public from potentially dangerous offenders, given the research and all that is known about the negative effects of such policies, it is now time to protect children and adolescents from these harmful policy decisions. As evidenced by the research, SORN laws as currently applied to children and adolescents in the U.S. are not evidenced-based, have not been shown to enhance community safety, have not been shown to prevent sexual abuse, and are associated with numerous intended harmful consequences. It is the position of ATSA that Sex Offender Registration and Notification laws are not appropriate for children and adolescents adjudicated or convicted of sexually abusive behavior, and the application of such practices should be eliminated. Efforts should focus on evidence-based interventions that will prevent re-offense, facilitate healthier lives for these youth, and result in healthier and safer communities.

APPENDIX

LEGAL CHALLENGES AND RULINGS RELATED TO SORN LAWS

Challenges to registration statutes in the United States at both the federal and state levels typically have focused on violations of the following constitutional and legal tenets – freedom of speech, retroactive application of law, cruel and unusual punishment, and equal protection and due process. In all of these areas, the law is evolving. A sampling of recent cases in each of these areas follows.

• *Freedom of speech*: The First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution prevents the government from abridging individuals' right to exercise freedom of speech, freedom of peaceable assembly, and freedom of religious practice.

Recent rulings show support for protecting the free speech of registrants.

- In 2012 (Doe v. Nebraska), the U.S. District Court in Nebraska found that preventing registrants from using social networking websites, instant messaging services, and chat rooms violated the First Amendment, and that requiring registrants to provide internet identifiers also violated the First Amendment.
- In 2017 (Packingham v. North Carolina), the U.S. Supreme Court found that North Carolina's law prohibiting registered sex offenders from accessing social media sites where minors are permitted violated the First Amendment.
- In 2018 (Doe v. Marshall), the U.S. District Court in Alabama ruled that Alabama's sex offender registration law violated the First Amendment by branding state-issued ID cards with "CRIMINAL SEX OFFENDER" and imposing extensive internet-use reporting requirements.
- *Ex post facto*: An ex post facto law retroactively applies new laws to actions that were committed before the law took effect. Ex post facto laws are expressly forbidden by the U.S. Constitution. Ex post facto challenges to the use of sex offender registries have occurred and continue to occur in states where individuals who were not originally required to register were later required to register due to a law change that retroactively applied to the original crime, and where adjunct laws have been imposed.

Rulings on cases involving ex post facto challenges have been mixed, but more recent decisions have found that retroactive application of sex offender registration laws is an ex post facto violation.

- In 2003 (Smith v. Doe), the U.S. Supreme Court upheld Alaska's sex offender registration statute, ruling that sex offender registration laws were civil laws, not punitive measures, and therefore were not unconstitutional ex post facto violations.
- However, in 2008 (Doe v. State of Alaska), the Alaska Supreme Court ruled that Alaska's Sex Offender Registration Act violated the ex post facto clause of the state's constitution, and ruled that the registration requirement does not apply to persons who committed their crimes before the act became effective.
- Missouri's courts issued a series of conflicting rulings in 2006, 2007, 2009, and 2010 on whether individuals were required to register if they pled guilty to a registrable offense before the state's sex offender registration law took effect. As of the 2010 ruling, individuals who pled guilty to a sex offense that occurred prior to the enactment of Missouri's registration law are not required to register.
- In 2012 (In re C.P), the Ohio Supreme Court ruled that the state's version of the Adam Walsh Act was punitive, rather than a civil regulatory measure, and barred retroactive application of the law to individuals whose crimes predated the law's effective date.
- In 2013 (Doe v. Department of Public Safety and Correctional Services), the Maryland Court of Appeals ruled that the state could not require the registration of people who committed their crimes before the registry database was established.
- In 2016 (Does #1-6 v. Snyder), the U.S. Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals 0 ruled that the actual effects of SORA are punitive with respect to its retroactive application. Therefore, retroactive application of changes to Michigan's SORA in 2006 (implementing residency restrictions), and in 2011 (implementing SORNA) were unconstitutional and must cease. The court opined that: "A regulatory regime that severely restricts where people can live, work, and "loiter," that categorizes them into tiers ostensibly corresponding to present dangerousness without any individualized assessment thereof, and that requires time-consuming and cumbersome in-person reporting, all supported by—at best—scant evidence that such restrictions serve the professed purpose of keeping Michigan communities safe, is something altogether different from and more troubling than Alaska's first-generation registry law. SORA brands registrants as moral lepers solely on the basis of a prior conviction. It consigns them to years, if not a lifetime, of existence on the margins, not only of society, but often, as the record in this case makes painfully evident, from their own families, with whom, due to

school zone restrictions, they may not even live. It directly regulates where registrants may go in their daily lives and compels them to interrupt those lives with great frequency in order to appear in person before law enforcement to report even minor changes to their information." (Does #1-6 v. Snyder, 2016)

- In 2017 (Commonwealth v. Muniz), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled that Pennsylvania's retroactive application of SORNA penalties violated the ex post facto provisions of both the U.S. and Pennsylvania constitutions and additionally violated Pennsylvania's constitutionally protected freedom of reputation.
- *Cruel and unusual punishment*: The Eighth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution states that no one shall be subjected to cruel and unusual punishment. The four principles used to determine if a punishment is cruel and unusual are whether the punishment 1) is degrading to human dignity, 2) is inflicted in an arbitrary fashion, 3) is clearly rejected throughout society, and 4) is unnecessary. Arguments against registries claim that placing someone on a registry is, in fact, cruel and unusual punishment, because the public's access to registries results in registrants and their families being subjected to verbal and physical harassment, loss of housing and jobs, and other penalties.

Rulings in this area of law are mixed and still too few in number to show any kind of trend.

- In 2018 (In re C.K.), the New Jersey Supreme Court found that requiring juveniles to register as sex offenders for life was unconstitutional.
- In 2019 (People v. Interest of T.B.), the Colorado Court of Appeals remanded the case for further proceedings to determine whether lifetime registration for juveniles is unconstitutional.
- In 2019 (Doe v. Idaho Sex Offender Registry), the 9th U.S. Circuit Court rejected a lawsuit challenging the Idaho Sex Offender Registry Act as being cruel and unusual punishment and a violation of due process, and upheld the law as valid and constitutional.
- As of 2020 (In re G.M.C.), a case is making its way through the court system regarding the involuntary waiver of a juvenile to adult court for committing a sexual offense. The lawsuit challenges New Jersey's requirement that juveniles older than 14 must register under Megan's Law for at least 15 years after being adjudicated as delinquent. The lawsuit states that being registered triggers more than 600 federal,

state, and local consequences and creates a "minefield of collateral effects" for the person.

• *Equal protection and due process*: The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution provides that no state shall deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. Due process requires that governments must respect all of a person's constitutional rights when investigating them, charging them, or sentencing them for a crime. A violation of due process occurs when a government does not follow this requirement and a person is harmed as a result. Arguments against registries claim that placing someone on a registry deprives that person of liberty and/or property without due process.

Rulings in this area of law have supported most challenges to sex offender registries.

- In 2001 (State v. Bani), the Hawaii Supreme Court ruled that Hawaii's sex offender registration statute violated the due process clause of the state's constitution. The court determined that the law authorized public notification of the potential registrant's status as a convicted sex offender without notice, an opportunity to be heard, or any preliminary determination of whether and to what extent a potential registrant actually represented a danger to society.
- In 2003 (Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe), the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that Connecticut's sex offender registration statute did not violate procedural due process. It left open, however, the question of whether Connecticut's law violates substantive due process principles.
- In 2014 (In re J.B., L.A.D., D.E., K.O.H., A.M., J.T., and D.T.), the Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled that the state's sex offender registry for juvenile offenders was unconstitutional and that the state, by making an irrefutable presumption about adults' behavior based on crimes they committed as teens, violated their constitutional right to due process.
- In 2017 (Millard et al. v. Rankin), the U.S. District Court in Colorado found that the state's registration and notification system violated both the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.
- In 2018 (People v. Temelkoski), the Michigan Supreme Court ruled that retroactive application of a sex offender registration statute to a man who pleaded guilty to a sex offense under a state diversionary statute violated his right to due process under the state and federal constitutions.

ADDITIONAL CHALLENGES

In 2019, the Liberty and Justice Coalition (an organization whose goal is improving public safety by reforming sex offender laws) notified sheriffs throughout New Mexico that it will file a tort claim against any county sheriff's department that violates the New Mexico Sex Offender Notification and Registration Act by imposing additional requirements on registrants beyond those allowed and specified within the statute. Examples of additional requirements cited by the Coalition include requiring registrants to provide advance notice and an itinerary of travel outside the state, requiring registrants to make contact with the sheriff's office more frequently than required by statute, providing more information to employers about their convictions than required by statute, and restricting participation in holiday activities. As this effort proceeds, organizations in other states may choose to follow a similar process for challenging local enforcement variations of state and federal registration laws.

SUMMARY OF LEGAL CHALLENGES

Since states' laws and their application of the federal Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act (SORNA) vary, challenges to registration laws generally must take place on a state-by-state basis. This limits the application of court decisions to residents of one jurisdiction or to plaintiffs in narrow circumstances. Changing laws throughout the U.S. through legal challenges will necessarily require years of casework and a multitude of rulings.

During the past decade, however, some trends have emerged. Rulings on challenges to sex offender registration laws appear to be moving toward increased support for registrants' free speech rights and toward banning retroactive placement of individuals on registries. Rulings on challenges to registries based on cruel and unusual punishment, equal protection, and due process do not yet show a clear trend.

REFERENCES

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, A.R., Harris, A.J., Levenson, J.S., & Zgoba, K. (2011a). Who are the people in your neighborhood? A descriptive analysis of individuals on public sex offender registries. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 34, 149– 159*.
- Ackerman, A.R., Sacks, M. & Greenberg, D.F. (2011b). Legislation targeting sex offenders: Are recent policies effective in reducing rape? *Justice Quarterly*, 1-30.
- Ackerman, A. R., & Sacks, M. (2012). Can general strain theory be used to explain recidivism among registered sex offenders? *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(3), 187–193.
- Albert, D., Chein, J., & Steinberg, L. (2013). The teenage brain: Peer influences on adolescent decision making. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22, 114-120.
- Batastini, A. B., Hunt, E., Present-Koller, J., & DeMatteo, D. (2011). Federal standards for community registration of juvenile sex offenders: An evaluation of risk prediction and future implications. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 17(3), 451–474.
- Bufkin, J., & Luttrell, V. (2005). Neuroimaging studies of aggressive and violent behavior: Current findings and implications for criminology and criminal justice. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, Vol. 6*, 176 – 191.
- Brechwald, W., & Prinstein, M. (2011). Beyond homophily: A decade of advances in understanding peer influence processes. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, *21*(1), 166 179.
- Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). *The psychology of criminal conduct (5th ed.)*. Cincinnati, OH: Anderson Publishing.
- Bouffard, J.A. & Askew, L.N. (2019). Time-series analyses of the impact of sex offender registration and notification law implementation and subsequent

modifications on rates of sexual offenses. Crime & Delinquency, 65(11), 1483-1512.

- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2000). Sexual assault of young children as reported to law enforcement: Victim, incident, and offender characteristics. (No. NCJ-182990). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Burton, D. L., Duty, K. J., & Leibowitz, G. A. (2011). Differences between sexually victimized and nonsexually victimized male adolescent sexual abusers: Developmental antecedents and behavioral comparisons. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 20*, 77-93.
- Caldwell, M. F. (2016). Quantifying the decline in juvenile sexual recidivism rates. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 22(4), 414-426.
- Caldwell, M. F., & Dickinson, C. (2009). Sex offender registration and recidivism risk in juvenile sexual offenders. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 27(6), 941– 956.
- Caldwell, M. F., Ziemke, M. H., & Vitacco, M. J. (2008). An examination of the sex offender registration and notification act as applied to juveniles: Evaluating the ability to predict sexual recidivism. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law*, 14(2), 89–114.
- Cale, J., Lussier, P. McCuish, E. & Corrado, R. (2015). The prevalence of psychopathic personality disturbances among incarcerated youth: Comparing serious, chronic, violent and sex offenders. *Journal of Criminal Justice, 43*, 337-344.
- Calley, N. G. (2008). Juvenile sex offenders and sex offender legislation: Unintended consequences. *Federal Probation*, 72(3), 37–41,57. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com/docview/213981519?accountid=14872
- Casey, B., Jones, R., & Hare, T. (2008). The adolescent brain. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1124, 111-126.
- Comartin, E. B., Kernsmith, P. D., & Miles, B. W. (2010). Family experiences of young adult sex offender registration. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 19(2), 204–225.
- Conklin H, Luciana M, Hooper C, Yarger R. (2007). Working memory performance in typically developing children and adolescents: behavioral evidence of

protracted frontal lobe development. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 31, 103–28.

- Cotter, A. & Beaupré, P. (2014). *Police-reported sexual offences against children and youth in Canada, 2012.* Juristat. Vol. 34, no. 1. Statistics Canada Catalogue no. 85-002-X.
- Crone EA, Van Der Molen MW. (2004). Developmental changes in real life decision making: performance on a gambling task previously shown to depend on the ventromedial prefrontal cortex. *Developmental Neuropsychology*, 25, 251 – 279.
- Daversa, M. T., & Knight, R. A. (2007). A structural examination of the predictors of sexual coercion against children in adolescent sexual offenders. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 34(10), 1313–1333.
- Denniston, S. E. (2016). The Relationship Between Juvenile Sex Offender Registration and Depression in Adulthood (Doctoral dissertation). Walden University. Retrieved from <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/392f/3537472c09faa2f822932815acd5921fc0e</u> <u>9.pdf?_ga=2.246910596.1008746046.1574472582-825451179.1574472582</u>.
- Does #1-6 v. Snyder, 834 F.3d 696 (6th Cir. 2016).
- Duwe, G., Donnay, W., & Tewksbury, R. (2008). Does residential proximity matter? A geographic analysis of sex offense recidivism. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 35(4), 484-504.
- Farkas, M. A., & Miller, G. (2007). Reentry and reintegration: Challenges faced by the families of convicted sex offenders. *Federal Sentencing Reporter*, 20(2), 88-92.
- Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R., & Chaffin, M. (2009). Juveniles who commit sex offenses against minors. *Juvenile justice bulletin*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- Fuselier, D. A., Durham, R. L., & Wurtele, S. K. (2002). The child sexual abuser: Perceptions of college students and professionals. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 14(3), 271-280.
- Gannon, T.A., Olver, M.E., Mallion, J.S., & James, M. (2019). Does specialized psychological treatment for offending reduce recidivism? A meta-analysis

examining staff and program variables as predictors of treatment effectiveness. *Clinical Psychology Review, 73.*

- Gardner, M., & Steinberg, L. (2005). Peer influence on risk taking, risk preference, and risky decision making in adolescence and adulthood: An experimental study. *Developmental Psychology*, 41, 625–635.
- Gogtay, N., & Thompson, P., (2010). Mapping gray matter development: implications for typical development and vulnerability to psychopathology. *Brain Cognition, 72*, 6-15.
- Griffin, P., Addie, S., Adams, B., & Firestine, K. (2011). Trying juveniles as adults: An analysis of state transfer laws and reporting. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Grosbras, M., Jansen, M., Leonard, G., McIntosh, A., et. al. (2007). Neural mechanisms of resistance to peer influence in early adolescence. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, *27*, 8040 8045.
- Hackett. S., Masson, H., Balfe, M. & Phillips, J. (2015). Community Reactions to Young People Who Have Sexually Abused and Their Families: A Shotgun Blast, Not a Rifle Shot. *Children and Society. 29*, 243-254.
- Hanson, R. K., Bourgon, G., Helmus, L., & Hodgson, S. (2009). The principles of effective correctional treatment also apply to sexual offenders: A metaanalysis. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 36*, 865–891.
- Hanson, R. K., Harris, A. J. R., Letourneau, E. J., Helmus, L. M., & Thornton, D. (2018). Reductions in risk based on time offense free in the community: Once a sexual offender, not always a sexual offender. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law, 24,* 48-63.
- Hansen, B., & Waddell, G. R. (2014). Walk Like a Man: Do Juvenile Offenders Respond to Being Tried as Adults?. Unpublished Manuscript, University of Oregon, Eugene.
- Hanson, R. K., & Morton-Bourgon, K. E. (2005). The characteristics of persistent sexual offenders: a meta-analysis of recidivism studies. *Journal of Consulting* and Clinical Psychology, (6), 1154.

- Harris, A. J., Lobanov-Rostovsky, C., & Levenson, J. S. (2010). Widening the net the effects of transitioning to the Adam Walsh Act's federally mandated sex offender classification system. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(5), 503–519.
- Harris, A.J., Lobonav-Rostovsky, C. & Levenson, J.S. (August 2016). Law enforcement perspectives on sex offender registration and notification: A summary report (Document No. 250181). Retrieved from the National Institute of Justice, Office of Justice Programs: <u>https://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/nij/grants/250181.pdf</u>
- Harris, A. J., Walfield, S. M., Shields, R. T., & Letourneau, E. J. (2015). Collateral consequences of juvenile sex offender registration and notification: Results from a survey of treatment providers. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research* and Treatment, 28(8), 770-790.
- Hooper C, Luciana M, Conklin H, Yarger R. (2004). Adolescents' performance on the Iowa Gambling Task: implications for the development of decision making and ventromedial prefrontal cortex. *Developmental Psychology*, 40, 1148–58.
- Human Rights Watch (2013). Raised on the Registry: The Irreparable Harm of Placing Children on Sex Offender Registries in the US. <u>https://www.hrw.org/report/2013/05/01/raised-registry/irreparable-harm-placing-children-sex-offender-registries-us</u>
- Huang, J-Y. (2016). Rape myths and rape by juveniles. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology, 27*(4), 489-503.
- Jones, S., Joyal, C. C., Cisler, J. M., & Bai, S. (2017). Exploring emotion regulation in juveniles who have sexually offended: An fMRI study. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 26*(1), 40-57.
- Lenroot, R., & Giedd, J. (2006). Brian development in children and adolescents: Insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. *Neuroscience and biobehavioral Reviews, Vol. 30*, 718 – 729.
- Letourneau, E. J., & Armstrong, K. S. (2008). Recidivism rates for registered and nonregistered juvenile sexual offenders. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, *20*(4), 393–408.
- Letourneau, E. J., Armstrong, K. S., Bandyopadhyay, D., & Sinha, D. (2013). Sex offender registration and notification policy increases juvenile plea bargains. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, *25*(2), 189–207.

- Letourneau, E. J., Bandyopadhyay, D., Armstrong, K. S., & Sinha, D. (2010a). Do sex offender registration and notification requirements deter juvenile sex crimes? *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, *37*(5), 553–569.
- Letourneau, E. J., Bandyopadhyay, D., Sinha, D., & Armstrong, K. (2009a). Effects of sex offender registration policies on juvenile justice decision making. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment*, *21*(2), 149–165.
- Letourneau, E. J., Harris, A. J., Shields, R. T., Walfield, S. M., Ruzicka, A. E., Buckman, C., *Kahn, G. D., & Nair, R. (2018). Effects of juvenile sex offender registration on adolescent well-being: An empirical examination. *Psychology*, *Public Policy, and Law, 24*, 105-117.
- Letourneau, E. J., Levenson, J. S., Bandyopadhyay, D., Armstrong, K. S., & Sinha, D. (2010b). Effects of South Carolina's sex offender registration and notification policy on deterrence of adult sex crimes. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(5), 537–552.
- Letourneau, E. J., Sheilds, R. T., Nair, R., Kahn, G., Sandler, J. C. & Vandiver, D. M. (2019). Juvenile Registration and Notification Policies Fail to Prevent First-Time Sexual Offenses: An Extension of Findings to Two New States. *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 30(7), 1109-1123.
- Levenson, J. S. (2007). The new scarlet letter: Sex offender policies in the 21st century. In D. Prescott (Ed.), *Applying Knowledge to Practice: Challenges in the Treatment and Supervision of Sexual Behavior* (pp. 21–41). Oklahoma City, OK: Wood and Barnes Publishing.
- Levenson, J. S., & D'Amora, D. A. (2007). Social policies designed to prevent sexual violence the emperor's new clothes? *Criminal Justice Policy Review*, 18(2), 168–199.
- Levenson, J. S., & Hern, A. (2007). Sex offender residence restrictions: Unintended consequences and community re-entry. *Justice Research and Policy*, 9(1), 59– 73.
- Levenson, J., & Tewksbury, R. (2009). Collateral damage: Family members of registered sex offenders. American Journal of Criminal Justice, 34(1/2), 54– 68.
- Levenson, J. (2016). Hidden challenges: Sex offenders legislated into homelessness. Journal of Social Work, 1-16.

- Levenson, J. S., & Cotter, L. P. (2005). The effect of Megan's Law on sex offender reintegration. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 21(1), 49-66.
- Levenson, J. S., D'Amora, D. A., & Hern, A. (2007). Megan's Law and its impact on community re-entry for sex offenders. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law, 25*, 587-602.
- Levenson, J. S., & Zgoba, K. (2015). Community protection policies and repeat sexual offenses in Florida. International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 60(10), 1140-1158.
- Luna B, Thulborn K, Munoz D, Merriam E, Garver K, et al. (2001). Maturation of widely distributed brain function subserves cognitive development. *Neuroimaging*, *13*, 786-793.
- Lussier, P. (2017). Juvenile sex offending through a developmental life course criminology perspective: An agenda for policy and research. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 29*(1), 51-80.
- Lussier, P., van den Berg, C., Bijleveld, C., & Hendriks, J. (2012). A developmental taxonomy of juvenile sex offenders for theory, research, and prevention: The adolescence-limited and the high-rate slow desister. *Criminal Justice and Behavior, 39*(12), 1559-1581.
- McCuish, E., Lussier, P., & Corrado, R. (2016). Criminal careers of juvenile sex and nonsex offenders: Evidence from a prospective longitudinal study. *Youth Violence and Juvenile Justice*, 14(3), 199-224.
- McCarten, K.F. (2018). Special issue: International approaches to the assessment and management of people who have committed sexual abuse. *Sexual Offender Treatment, 13 (1/2).*
- Meloy, M.L., Miller, S.L., & Curtis, K.M. (2008). Making sense out of nonsense: The deconstruction of state-level sex offender residence restrictions. American Journal of Criminal Justice, 33, 209-222.
- Mercado, C. C., Alvarez, S., & Levenson, J. S. (2008). The impact of specialized sex offender legislation on community re-entry. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research & Treatment, 20(2), 188-205.
- Miner, M. H, Robinson, B. E., Knight, R. A., Berg, D., Swinburne Romine, R., & Netland, J. (2010). Understanding sexual perpetration against children:

Effects of attachment style, interpersonal involvement, and hypersexuality. *Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 22*, 58-77.

- Monahan, K., Steinberg, L., & Cauffman, E. (2009). Affiliation with antisocial peers, susceptibility to peer influence, and antisocial behavior during the transition to adulthood. *Developmental Psychology*, 45, 1520 1530.
- Mulder, E., Vermunt, J., Brand, E., Bullens, R., & van Marle, H. (2012). Recidivism in subgroups of serious juvenile offenders: Different profiles, different risks? *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 22, 122-135.
- Nobles, M.R., Levenson, J.S., & Youstin, T.J. (2012). Effectiveness of residence restrictions in preventing sex offense recidivism. Crime & Delinquency, 58(4), 491-513.
- O'Brien, J. E., Burton, D. L., & Li, W. (2016). Body disapproval among adolescent male sexual offenders: Prevalence and links to treatment. *Child and Adolescent Social Work Journal, 33*, 39-46.
- Ostrowsky, M. K., & Messner, S. F. (2005). Explaining crime for a young adult population: An application of general strain theory. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *33*(5), 463–476.
- O'Sullivan, J., Hoggett, J., McCartan, K.F., & Kemshall, H. (2016). Understanding and implications of the sex offender register. Irish Probation Journal, 13, 82 1-4.
- Prescott, D. S. (2010). Response to Comartin, Kernsmith, and Miles' (2010) Michigan sex offender registration study. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse: Research, Treatment, & Program Innovations for Victims, Survivors, & Offenders, 19(2), 231–233.
- Reitzel, L.R., & Carbonell, J.L. (2006). The effectiveness of sexual offender treatment for juveniles as measured by recidivism: A meta-analysis. Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 18, 401–421.
- Reynolds, L., Pokinko, M., Torres-Berrio, A., Cuesta, S., Lambert, L, et. al. (2018). DCC receptors drive prefrontal cortex maturation by determining dopamine axon targeting in adolescence. *Biological Psychiatry*, 83, 181–192.

- Rothmond, D., Weickert, C., & Webster, M. (2012). Developmental changes in human dopamine neurotransmission: cortical receptors and terminators. *BMC Neuroscience*, 13:18.
- Rogers, D. L. & Ferguson, C. J. (2011). Punishment and rehabilitation attitudes toward sex offenders versus nonsexual offenders. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma, 20*, 395-414.
- Sandler, J. C., Freeman, N. J., & Socia, K. M. (2008). Does a watched pot boil? A time-series analysis of New York State's sex offender registration and notification law. *Psychology, Public Policy and Law, 14(4),* 284-302.
- Sandler, J. C., Letourneau, E. J., Vandiver, D. M., Shields, R. T., Chaffin, M. (2017). Juvenile sexual crime reporting rates are not influenced by juvenile sex offender registration policies. *Psychology, Public Policy, and Law,* 23, 131-140.
- Sahlstrom, K. J. & Jeglic, E. L. (2008). Factors affecting attitudes toward juvenile sex offenders. *Journal of Child Sexual Abuse*, 17(2), 180-196.
- Schmucker, M., & Lösel, F. (2015). The effects of sexual offender treatment on recidivism: An international meta-analysis of sound quality evaluations. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 11, 597–630.
- Seto, M.C., & Lalumière, M.L. (2010). What is so special about male adolescent sexual offending? A review and test of explanations through meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin, 4,* 526–575.
- Sisk, C.L. & Foster, D.L. (2004). The neural basis of puberty and adolescence. *Nature Neuroscience*, *7*, 1040-1047.
- SMART (2018). Sex Offender Registration and Notification in the United States Current Case Law and Issues: Residency Restrictions. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.smart.gov/caselaw/9-Case-Law-Update-2018-Residency-Restrictions.pdf</u>.
- Smith, A., Rosenbaum, G., Botdorf, M., & Steinberg, L. (2018). Peers influence adolescent reward processing, but not response inhibition. *Cognitive, Affective, & Behavioral Neuroscience, 18,* 284–295.

- Snyder, H.N. (2000). Sexual Assault of Young Children as Reported to Law Enforcement: Victim, Incident, and Offender Characteristics. U.S. Department of Justice, Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Sparks, B. (2018). Evaluating Canadians' attitudes toward juvenile sexual offenders: Toward an understanding of community responses (master's thesis). Saskatoon, SK: University of Saskatchewan.
- Steinberg, L. (2007). Risk-taking in adolescence: New perspectives from brain and behavioral science. *Current Directions in Psychological Science, 16*, 55–59.
- Steinberg, L., (2010). A dual systems model of adolescent risk-taking. Developmental Psychobiology, 52, 216-224.
- Steinberg, L., Albert, D., Cauffman, E., Banich, M., Graham, S., & Woolard, J. (2008). Age differences in sensation seeking and impulsivity as indexed by behavior and self-report: Evidence for a dual systems model. *Developmental Psychology*, 44, 1764–1778.
- Steinberg, L. D., Cauffman, E., & Monahan, K. (2015). *Psychosocial maturity and desistance from crime in a sample of serious juvenile offenders*. Laurel, MD: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Steinberg, L., & Monahan, K. C. (2007). Age differences in resistance to peer influence. *Developmental Psychology*, 43, 1531–1543.
- Taylor, J. F. (2003). Children and young people accused of child sexual abuse: A study within a community. *Journal of Sexual Aggression*, *9*(1), 57-70.
- Tidefors, I., Goulding, A., & Arvidsson, H. (2011). A Swedish sample of 45 adolescent males who have sexually offended: Background, individual characteristics, and offending behavior. *Nordic Psychology*, 63(4), 18-34.
- Tewksbury, R. (2005). Collateral consequences of sex offender registration. *Journal* of Contemporary Criminal Justice, 21(1), 67-81.
- Tewksbury, R. & Levenson, J. (2009). Stress experiences of family members of registered sex offenders. *Behavioral Sciences and the Law, 27*, 1-16.
- Tewksbury, R., & Zgoba, K. M. (2010). Perceptions and coping with punishment: How registered sex offenders respond to stress, internet restrictions, and the

collateral consequences of registration. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, *54*(4), 537–551.

- Quinn, J. F., Forsyth, C. J., & Mullen-Quinn, C. (2004). Societal reaction to sex offenders: a review of the origins and results of the myths surrounding their crimes and treatment amenability. *Deviant Behavior*, 25, 215-232.
- Van Hoorn, J., McCormick, E., Rogers, C., Ivory, S., & Telzer, E. (2018). Differential effects of parent and peer presence on neural correlates of risk taking in adolescence. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 945–955.
- Vasquez, B. E., Maddan, S., & Walker, J. T. (2008). The influence of sex offender registration and notification laws in the United States. *Crime and Delinquency*, 54(2), 175-192.
- Veysey, B., Zgoba, K., & Dalessandro, M. (2008). A preliminary step towards evaluating the impact of Megan's Law: A trend analysis of sexual offenses in New Jersey from 1985 to 2005. Justice Research and Policy, 10(2), 1-18.
- Viljoen, J.L., Mordell, S., & Beneteau, J.L. (2012). Prediction of adolescent sexual reoffending: A meta-analysis of the J-SOAP-II, ERASOR, J-SORRAT-II, and Static-99. *Law and Human Behavior*, *36(5)*, 423-38.
- Widman, L., Choukas-Bradley, S., Helms, S., & Prinstein, M. (2016). Adolescent susceptibility to peer influence in sexual situations. *Journal of Adolescent Health, 58*, 323-329.
- Wetterling, P. (2017). Jacob's Hope. Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers. 36th Annual Research and Treatment Conference. Kansas City, MO. October 26, 2017.
- World Health Organization, (2020). *Recognizing Adolescence*. Available from: <u>https://apps.who.int/adolescent/second-decade/section2/page1/recognizing-adolescence.html</u>.
- Worling, J.R., Bookalam, D., & Litteljohn, A. (2012). Prospective validity of the Estimate of Risk of Adolescent Sexual Offense Recidivism (ERASOR). *Journal of Sexual Abuse: A Journal of Research and Treatment, 24(3),* 203– 223.
- Worling, J. R., & Langstrom, N. (2006). Risk of sexual recidivism in adolescents who offend sexually: Correlates and assessment. In H. E. Barabee, W. L.

Marshall, & S. M. Husdon (Eds.), *The Juvenile Offender* (2nd ed., pp. 219–247). New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Worling, J. R., Litteljohn, A., & Bookalam, D. (2010). 20-Year prospective follow-up study of specialized treatment for adolescents who offended sexually. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 28(1), 46–57.
- Worling, J.R. (2017). Protective + Risk Observations for Eliminating Sexual Offense Recidivism (PROFESOR). Retrieved from: <u>www.profesor.ca/uploads/8/7/7/6/8776493/the_profesor_november_2017.pdf</u>
- Zandbergen, P.A., Levenson, J.S., & Hart, T.C. (2010). Residential proximity to schools and daycares: An empirical analysis of sex offense recidivism. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 37(5), 482-502.
- Zevitz, R. G., & Farkas, M. A. (2000). Sex offender community notification: Managing high risk criminals or exacting further vengeance? *Behavioral Sciences and the Law, 18,* 375-391.
- Zgoba, K., Veysey, B., & Dalessandro, M. (2010). An analysis of the effectiveness of community notification and registration: Do the best intentions predict best practices? *Justice Quarterly*, *27(5)*, 667-691.